

# WORKFORCE SAFETY AND INSURANCE

## CHAPTER 500

### HOUSE BILL NO. 1084

(Industry, Business and Labor Committee)  
(At the request of Workforce Safety and Insurance)

AN ACT to create and enact a new section to chapter 65-02 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to charging fees for outgoing file copies; to amend and reenact paragraph 3 of subdivision b of subsection 11 of section 65-01-02, section 65-01-11, subsections 2 and 3 of section 65-04-33, subsection 7 of section 65-05-08, sections 65-05-09, 65-05-10, 65-05-32, and 65-05-33, subsection 1 of section 65-05-35, subsections 3 and 6 of section 65-05.1-01, and subsection 2 of section 65-05.1-06.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to definition of compensable injury, burden of proof involving recreational marijuana use, an employer's willful misrepresentation by statement or omission, reapplications following a refusal of job offer, calculation of temporary total, permanent total, and temporary partial disability using average weekly wage from the definition section, release of claim file information to survivors in death claims, a person who claims benefits or the employer of a person who claims benefits and makes a false statement or omission, presumed closed claims, and reapplications following completion of a rehabilitation retraining program; to provide a penalty; and to provide for application.

#### BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA:

<sup>350</sup> **SECTION 1. AMENDMENT.** Paragraph 3 of subdivision b of subsection 11 of section 65-01-02 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

- (3) Any injury caused by the use of intoxicants, including recreational marijuana use, or the illegal use of controlled substances.

**SECTION 2. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-01-11 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

#### **65-01-11. Burden of proof in compensation matters - Death certificate.**

If the organization or an employer claims an employee is not entitled to the benefits of the North Dakota workforce safety and insurance law because the employee's injury was caused by the employee's willful intention to cause self-injury, or to injure another, or by reason of the voluntary impairment caused by use of alcohol, recreational marijuana use, or illegal use of a controlled substance by the employee, the burden of proving the exemption or forfeiture is on the organization or

<sup>350</sup> Section 65-01-02 was also amended by section 508 of House Bill No. 1247, chapter 352, and section 1 of Senate Bill No. 2148, chapter 501.

on the person alleging the same; however, an alcohol concentration level at or above the limit set by the United States secretary of transportation in the Code of Federal Regulations in effect on August 1, 2011, or a level of an illegally used controlled substance or recreational marijuana sufficient to cause impairment found by a test conducted by a physician, qualified technician, chemist, or registered nurse at or above the cutoff level in the Code of Federal Regulations in effect on August 1, 2011, creates a rebuttable presumption the injury was due to impairment caused by the use of alcohol, recreational marijuana use, or the illegal use of a controlled substance. An employer who has a mandatory drug alcohol testing policy for work accidents, or an employer or a health care provider who has reasonable grounds to suspect an employee's alleged work injury was caused by the employee's voluntary impairment caused by use of alcohol, recreational marijuana use, or illegal use of a controlled substance may request the employee undergo testing to determine if the employee had alcohol, marijuana, or the controlled substance in the employee's system at levels greater than the limit set by the United States department of transportation at the time of the injury. If an employee refuses to submit to a reasonable request to undergo a test to determine if the employee was impaired or if an employee refuses to submit to a test for drugs or alcohol after a work accident as mandated by company policy, the employee forfeits all entitlement to workforce safety and insurance benefits arising out of that injury. Any claimant against the fund, however, has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the claimant is entitled to benefits. If a claim for death benefits is filed, the official death certificate must be considered as evidence of death and may not be used to establish the cause of death.

**SECTION 3.** A new section to chapter 65-02 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows:

**Fees for outgoing file copies.**

The organization may charge a fee not exceeding twenty dollars for the first twenty-five pages and seventy-five cents per page after twenty-five pages when providing an outgoing file copy. In an electronic, digital, or other computerized format, the organization may charge a fee of thirty dollars for the first twenty-five pages and twenty-five cents per page after twenty-five pages. The fees include any administration cost, retrieval fee, or postage expense.

**SECTION 4. AMENDMENT.** Subsections 2 and 3 of section 65-04-33 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

2. a. An employer that willfully misrepresents to the organization or its representative, by statement or omission, the amount of payroll upon which a premium under this title is based, or that willfully fails to secure coverage for employees, is liable to the state in the amount of five thousand dollars plus three times the difference between the premium paid and the amount of premium the employer should have paid.
- b. The organization shall collect a penalty imposed under this subsection in a civil action in the name of the state, and the organization shall deposit a penalty collected under this subsection to the credit of the workforce safety and insurance fund.
- c. An employer that willfully misrepresents to the organization or its representative, by statement or omission, the amount of payroll upon which a premium under this title is based, or that willfully fails to secure coverage for employees, is guilty of a class A misdemeanor. If the premium due exceeds one thousand dollars, the penalty for willful failure

to secure coverage or willful misrepresentation to the organization or its representative is a class C felony. If the employer is a corporation or a limited liability company, the president, secretary, treasurer, or person with primary responsibility is liable for the failure to secure workforce safety and insurance coverage under this subsection.

- d. In addition to the penalties prescribed by this subsection, the organization may initiate injunction proceedings as provided for in this title to enjoin an employer from unlawfully employing uninsured workers.
  - e. The cost of an investigation under this subsection which results in a criminal conviction may be charged to the employer's account and collected by civil action.
3. An employer that willfully makes a false statement or fails to make a statement in an attempt to preclude an injured worker from securing benefits or payment for services, or that willfully discharges or threatens to discharge an employee for seeking or making known the intention to seek workforce safety and insurance benefits is liable to the state in the amount of five thousand dollars. The organization shall collect a civil penalty imposed under this section in a civil action in the name of the state, and the organization shall deposit a penalty collected under this section to the credit of the workforce safety and insurance fund. A willful violation of this section is a class A misdemeanor. The cost of an investigation under this subsection which results in a criminal conviction may be charged to the employer's account and collected by civil action.

**SECTION 5. AMENDMENT.** Subsection 7 of section 65-05-08 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

7. If the employee voluntarily limits income or refuses to accept employment suitable to the employee's capacity, offered to or procured for the employee, the employee is not entitled to disability or vocational rehabilitation benefits during the limitation of income or refusal to accept employment unless the organization determines the limitation or refusal is justified. To receive additional disability or vocational rehabilitation benefits following an unjustified limitation or refusal, the employee shall meet the requirements of a reapplication for benefits as outlined in this section.

**SECTION 6. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-05-09 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-05-09. Temporary total or permanent total disability - Weekly and aggregate benefit.**

1. If an injury causes temporary total or permanent total disability, the fund shall pay to the injured employee during that disability a weekly benefit equal to sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the gross average weekly wage of the injured employee, subject to a minimum of sixty percent and a maximum of one hundred twenty-five percent of the average weekly wage in the state. If an injured employee is disabled due to an injury, that injured employee's benefits will be based upon the injured employee's wage and the organization benefit rates in effect on the date of first disability.
- ~~1.2.~~ Unless otherwise provided in this subsection, if an injured employee suffers disability but is able to return to employment for a period of three consecutive

calendar months or more, that injured employee's benefits will be based upon the wage received at the time of the recurrence of the disability. If the wage received at the time of the recurrence of the disability is lower than the ~~injured employee's average weekly wage received before the injury~~ and the lower wage is due to the physical limitations of the compensable injury, the injured employee's benefits must be based upon the ~~injured employee's average weekly wage the injured employee received before the injury~~. It is the burden of the injured employee to show the inability to earn as much as the injured employee ~~earned before the injury~~ employee's average weekly wage is due to the physical limitation related to the injury. The organization benefit rates are those in effect at the time of that recurrence.

- 2.3. The disability benefit or the combined disability benefit and dependency award may not exceed the weekly wage of the injured employee after deductions for social security and federal income tax.
- 3.4. When an injured employee is permanently and totally disabled, must be maintained in a nursing home or similar facility, and has no dependent parent, spouse, or children, as much of that injured employee's weekly benefit as is necessary may be used by the organization to help defray the cost of the nursing home care.

**SECTION 7. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-05-10 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-05-10. Partial disability - Weekly benefit.**

- 1. If the injury causes temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity, the disability benefit is sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the difference between the injured employee's average weekly ~~wages before the injury~~ wage and the injured employee's wage-earning capacity after the injury in the same or another employment. Partial disability benefits are subject to a maximum of one hundred twenty-five percent of the average weekly wage in the state. The combined partial disability benefits, dependency allowance, and postinjury wage-earning capacity may not exceed ninety percent of the ~~preinjury~~ average weekly wage of the injured employee.
- 1.2. The benefits provided by this section are available to any otherwise eligible worker, providing the loss of earning capacity occurs after July 1, 1989. Partial loss of earning capacity occurring prior to July 1, 1989, must be paid at a rate to be fixed by the organization.
- 2.3. Benefits must be paid during the continuance of partial disability, not to exceed a period of five years. The organization may waive the five-year limit on the duration of partial disability benefits in cases of catastrophic injury as defined in section 65-05.1-06.1 or when the injured worker is working and has long-term restrictions verified by clear and convincing objective medical and vocational evidence that limits the injured worker to working less than twenty-eight hours per week because of the compensable work injury. This subsection is effective for partial loss of earnings capacity occurring after June 30, 1991.
- 3.4. The employee's earnings capacity may be established by expert vocational evidence of a capacity to earn in the statewide job pool where the worker lives. Actual postinjury earnings are presumptive evidence of earnings capacity if the job employs the employee to full work capacity in terms of

hours worked per week, and if the job is in a field related to the employee's transferable skills. The presumption may be rebutted by competent evidence from a vocational expert that the employee's actual earnings do not fairly reflect the employee's earnings capacity in the statewide job pool, considering the employee's capabilities, education, experience, and skills.

**SECTION 8. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-05-32 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-05-32. Privacy of records and hearings - Penalty.**

Information contained in the claim files and records of injured employees is confidential and is not open to public inspection, other than to organization employees or agents in the performance of their official duties. Providing further that:

1. Representatives of a claimant, whether an individual or an organization, may review a claim file or receive specific information from the file upon the presentation of the signed authorization of the claimant. However, reserve information may not be made available to the claimant or the claimant's representatives. Availability of this information to employers is subject to the sole discretion of the organization.
2. Employers or their duly authorized representatives who are required to have access to an injured employee's claim file for the performance of their duties may review and have access to any files of their own injured employees. An employer or an employer's duly authorized representative who willfully communicates information contained in an employee's claim file to any person who does not need the information in the performance of that person's duties is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.
3. Allied health care professionals treating or examining employees claiming benefits under this title, or allied health care professionals giving medical advice to the organization regarding any claim may, at the discretion of the organization, inspect the claim files and records of injured employees.
4. If an injured employee is deceased or is unable to communicate with the organization, the organization may provide the claim file to and communicate with relevant interested parties to properly adjudicate benefits.
5. Other persons may have access to and make inspections of the files, if such persons are rendering assistance to the organization at any stage of the proceedings on any matter pertaining to the administration of this title.
- ~~5-6.~~ The claimant's name; date of birth; injury date; employer name; type of injury; whether the claim is accepted, denied, or pending; and whether the claim is in active or inactive pay status will be available to the public. This information may not be released in aggregate form, except to those persons contracting with the organization for exchange of information pertaining to the administration of this title or except upon written authorization by the claimant for a specified purpose.
- ~~6-7.~~ At the request of a claimant, the organization may close the medical portion of a hearing to the public.

- ~~7-8.~~ The organization may release the social security number of an individual claiming entitlement to benefits under this title to health care providers or health care facilities for the purpose of adjudicating a claim for benefits.
- ~~8-9.~~ The organization may provide an injured employee's insurer information regarding the injured employee's claim.
- ~~9-10.~~ The organization may provide any state or federal agency any information obtained pursuant to the administration of this title. Any information so provided must be used for the purpose of administering the duties of that state or federal agency.

**SECTION 9. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-05-33 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-05-33. Filing false claim or false statement - Penalty.**

1. A person who claims benefits or payment for services under this title or the employer of a person who claims benefits or payments for services is guilty of a class A misdemeanor if the person or employer does any one or more of the following:
  - a. Willfully files a false claim or makes a false statement or an omission in an attempt to secure payment of benefits or payment for services.
  - b. Willfully misrepresents that person's physical condition, including deceptive conduct which misrepresents that person's physical ability.
  - c. Has a claim for disability benefits that has been accepted by the organization and willfully fails to notify the organization of:
    - (1) Work or other activities as required under subsection 3 of section 65-05-08;
    - (2) The receipt of income from work; or
    - (3) An increase in income from work.
2. If any of the acts or omissions in subsection 1 are committed to obtain, or pursuant to a scheme to obtain, more than one thousand dollars in benefits or payment for services, the offense is a class C felony.
3. In addition to any other penalties provided by law, the person claiming benefits or payment for services in violation of this section shall reimburse the organization for any benefits paid based upon the false claim ~~or~~ false statement, or omission, and, if applicable, under section 65-05-29 and shall forfeit any additional benefits relative to that injury.
4. For purposes of this section, "statement" includes any testimony, claim form, notice, proof of injury, proof of return-to-work status, bill for services, diagnosis, prescription, hospital or doctor records, x-ray, test results, or other evidence of loss, injury, or expense.

**SECTION 10. AMENDMENT.** Subsection 1 of section 65-05-35 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

1. A claim for benefits under this title is presumed closed if the organization has not paid any benefit or received a demand for payment of any benefit for a period of four years.

**SECTION 11. AMENDMENT.** Subsections 3 and 6 of section 65-05.1-01 of the North Dakota Century Code are amended and reenacted as follows:

3. It is the goal of vocational rehabilitation to return the disabled employee to substantial gainful employment with a minimum of retraining, as soon as possible after an injury occurs. "Substantial gainful employment" means bona fide work, for remuneration, which is reasonably attainable in light of the individual's injury, functional capacities, education, previous occupation, experience, and transferable skills, and which offers an opportunity to restore the injured employee as soon as practicable and as nearly as possible to ninety percent of the injured employee's average weekly earnings ~~at the time of injury~~ wage, or to sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the average weekly wage in ~~this~~ the state on the date the rehabilitation report is issued under section 65-05.1-02.1, whichever is less. The purpose of defining substantial gainful employment in terms of earnings is to determine the first appropriate priority option under subsection 4 which meets this income test set out above.
6. a. If the organization concludes that none of the priority options under subsection 4 are viable, and will not return the injured employee to the lesser of sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the average weekly wage in the state, or ninety percent of the injured employee's ~~preinjury earnings~~ average weekly wage, the employee shall continue to minimize the loss of earnings capacity, to seek, obtain, and retain employment:
  - (1) That meets the employee's functional capacities; and
  - (2) For which the employee meets the qualifications to compete.
- b. Under section 65-05-10, the organization shall award partial disability based on retained earnings capacity calculated under this section.
- c. For purposes of calculating partial disability based on a retained earnings capacity, an employee is presumed to be capable of earning the greater of the state's hourly minimum wage times the hours of release based on a valid functional capacities examination or the wages payable within the appropriate labor market. This presumption is rebuttable only upon a finding of clear and convincing medical and vocational evidence to the contrary. If the presumption is successfully rebutted, the employee may receive partial disability benefits based on a retained earnings capacity of zero.

**SECTION 12. AMENDMENT.** Subsection 2 of section 65-05.1-06.1 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

2. If the appropriate priority option is short-term or long-term training, the vocational rehabilitation award must be within the following terms:
  - a. For the employee's lost time, and in lieu of further disability benefits, the organization shall award a rehabilitation allowance. The rehabilitation allowance must be limited to the amount and purpose specified in the award, and must be equal to the disability and dependent benefits the employee was receiving, or was entitled to receive, prior to the award.

- b. The rehabilitation allowance must include, as chosen by the employee, an additional thirty percent of the rehabilitation allowance for expenses associated with maintaining a second domicile or for travel associated with attendance at a school or training institution when it is necessary for the employee to travel at least twenty-five miles [40.23 kilometers] one way. Travel must be calculated from the employee's residence to the school or training institution. If it is necessary for an employee to travel less than twenty-five miles one way to a school or training institution, the employee may qualify for an additional rehabilitation allowance as determined in accordance with the following schedule:

Round-trip mileage	Percentage increase in rehabilitation allowance
Under 10 miles	0
10 to 30 miles	10
31 to 49 miles	20

Travel must be calculated from the employee's residence to the school or training institution.

- c. The rehabilitation allowance must be limited to one hundred four weeks except in cases of catastrophic injury, in which case additional rehabilitation benefits may be awarded in the discretion of the organization. Catastrophic injury includes:
- (1) Paraplegia; quadriplegia; severe closed head injury; total blindness in both eyes; or amputation of an arm proximal to the wrist or a leg proximal to the ankle, caused by the compensable injury, which renders an employee permanently and totally disabled without further vocational retraining assistance; or
  - (2) Those employees the organization so designates, in its sole discretion, provided that the organization finds the employee to be permanently and totally disabled without further vocational retraining assistance. There is no appeal from an organization decision to designate, or fail to designate, an employee as catastrophically injured under this subsection.
- d. Notwithstanding the one hundred four-week limit of subdivision c to facilitate the completion of a retraining program, the organization may award a rehabilitation extension allowance that may not exceed twenty weeks.
- e. The rehabilitation award must include the cost of books, tuition, fees, and equipment, tools, or supplies required by the educational institution. The award may not exceed the cost of attending a public college or university in the state in which the employee resides, provided an equivalent program exists in the public college or university.
- f. If the employee successfully concludes the rehabilitation program, the organization may make, in its sole discretion, additional awards for actual relocation expenses to move the household to the locale where the injured employee has actually located work.
- g. If the employee successfully concludes the rehabilitation program, the organization may make, in its sole discretion, an additional award, not to

- exceed two months' disability benefit, to assist the employee with work search.
- h. If the employee successfully concludes the rehabilitation program, the employee is not eligible for further vocational retraining or total disability benefits unless the employee establishes a significant change in medical condition attributable to the work injury which precludes the employee from performing the work for which the employee was trained, or any other work for which the employee is suited and has sustained an actual wage loss caused by the significant change in the compensable medical condition. The organization may waive this section in cases of catastrophic injury defined by subdivision c.
  - i. If the employee successfully concludes the rehabilitation program, the employee remains eligible to receive partial disability benefits, as follows:
    - (1) Beginning the date at which the employee completes retraining, until the employee acquires and performs substantial gainful employment, the partial disability benefit is sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the difference between the injured employee's ~~average weekly wages before the injury wage~~, and the employee's wage-earning capacity after retraining, as measured by the average wage in the employee's occupation, according to criteria established by job service North Dakota in its statewide labor market survey, or such other criteria the organization, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. The average weekly wage must be determined on the date the employee completes retraining. The benefit continues until the employee acquires substantial gainful employment.
    - (2) Beginning the date at which the employee acquires substantial gainful employment, the partial disability benefit is sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the difference between the injured employee's average weekly wages before the injury wage, and the injured employee's wage-earning capacity after retraining, as determined under paragraph 1, or the injured employee's actual ~~postinjury~~ wage earnings after retraining, whichever is higher.
    - (3) The partial disability benefit payable under paragraphs 1 and 2 may not exceed the limitation on partial disability benefits contained in section 65-05-10.
    - (4) The partial disability benefits paid under paragraphs 1 and 2 may not together exceed one year's duration.
    - (5) For purposes of paragraphs 1 and 2, "substantial gainful employment" means full-time bona fide work, for a remuneration, other than make-work. "Full-time work" means employment for twenty-eight or more hours per week, on average.
    - (6) The organization may waive the one-year limit on the duration of partial disability benefits, in cases of catastrophic injury under subdivision c.

**SECTION 13. APPLICATION.** Sections 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 of this Act apply to all claims regardless of date of injury. Section 4 of this Act applies to all

payroll periods of employer accounts regardless of the date of the statement or omission and applies to all claims regardless of the date of injury.

Approved March 9, 2021

Filed March 10, 2021

## CHAPTER 501

### SENATE BILL NO. 2148

(Senators Burckhard, Bekkedahl, Oban)  
(Representatives D. Anderson, Dobervich, Paur)

AN ACT to amend and reenact subsection 21 of section 65-01-02 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to defining health care provider to include a physical therapist.

#### BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA:

<sup>351</sup> **SECTION 1. AMENDMENT.** Subsection 21 of section 65-01-02 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

21. "Health care provider" means a doctor of medicine or osteopathy, chiropractor, dentist, optometrist, podiatrist, or psychologist acting within the scope of the doctor's license, ~~or a physical therapist~~, an advanced practice registered nurse, or a certified physician assistant.

Approved March 29, 2021

Filed March 30, 2021

---

<sup>351</sup> Section 65-01-02 was also amended by section 1 of House Bill No. 1084, chapter 500, and section 508 of House Bill No. 1247, chapter 352.

## CHAPTER 502

### HOUSE BILL NO. 1040

(Legislative Management)  
(Workers' Compensation Review Committee)

AN ACT to amend and reenact sections 65-01-16 and 65-04-32 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to appealing a workforce safety and insurance decision; and to provide for application.

#### BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA:

**SECTION 1. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-01-16 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

#### **65-01-16. Decisions by organization - Disputed decisions.**

The following procedures must be followed in claims for benefits, notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in chapter 28-32:

1. The organization shall send a copy of each initial claim form filed with the organization to the claimant's employer, by regular mail, along with a form for the employer's response, if the employer's response has not been filed at the time the claim is filed. ~~Failure of the employer to file a response within fourteen days from the day the response form was mailed to the employer constitutes the employer's admission that the information in the claim form is correct.~~
2. The organization may conduct a hearing on any matter within its jurisdiction by informal internal review of the information of record.
3. The organization may issue a notice of decision for any decision made by informal internal review and shall serve the notice of decision on the parties by regular mail. A notice of decision must include a statement of the decision, a short summary of the reason for the decision, and notice of the right to reconsideration.
4. A party has ~~thirty~~thirty-four~~five~~ days from the day the notice of decision was mailed by the organization in which to file a written request for reconsideration. The employer is not required to file the request through an attorney. The request must state the reason for disagreement with the organization's decision and the desired outcome. The request may be accompanied by additional evidence not previously submitted to the organization. The organization shall reconsider the matter by informal internal review of the information of record. Absent a timely and sufficient request for reconsideration, the notice of decision is final and may not be reheard or appealed.
5. After receiving a request for reconsideration, the organization shall serve on the parties by regular mail a notice of decision reversing the previous decision or, in accordance with the North Dakota Rules of Civil Procedure, an administrative order that includes its findings, conclusions, and order. The organization may serve an administrative order on any decision made by

informal internal review without first issuing a notice of decision and receiving a request for reconsideration. If the organization does not issue an order within sixty days of receiving a request for reconsideration, any interested party may request, and the organization shall promptly issue, an appealable determination.

6. An employee has ~~thirty~~thirty-four days from the day the administrative order was mailed in which to file a request for assistance from the decision review office under section 65-02-27.
7. A party has ~~thirty~~thirty-four days, from the date of service of an administrative order or from the day the decision review office mails its notice that the office's assistance is complete, in which to file a written request for rehearing. The request must specifically state each alleged error of fact and law to be reheard and the relief sought. Absent a timely and sufficient request for rehearing, the administrative order is final and may not be reheard or appealed.
8. Rehearings must be conducted as hearings under chapter 28-32 to the extent the provisions of that chapter do not conflict with this section.
9. A party may appeal a posthearing administrative order to district court in accordance with chapter 65-10. Chapter 65-10 does not preclude the organization from appealing to district court a final order issued by a hearing officer under this title.
10. Any notice of decision, administrative order, or posthearing administrative order is subject to review and reopening under section 65-05-04.

**SECTION 2. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-04-32 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-04-32. Decisions by organization - Disputed decisions.**

Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in chapter 28-32, the following procedures apply when the organization issues a decision under this chapter or section 65-04-04.4:

1. The organization may issue a notice of decision based on an informal internal review of the record and shall serve notice of the decision on the parties by regular mail. The organization shall include with the decision a notice of the employer's right to reconsideration.
2. An employer has ~~thirty~~thirty-four days from the day the notice of decision was mailed to file a written petition for reconsideration. The employer is not required to file the request through an attorney. The request must state the reason for disagreement with the organization's decision and the desired outcome. The request may be accompanied by additional evidence not previously submitted to the organization. The organization shall reconsider the matter by informal internal review of the information of record. Absent a timely and sufficient request for reconsideration, the notice of decision is final and may not be reheard or appealed.
3. After receiving a petition for reconsideration, unless settlement negotiations are ongoing, the organization shall serve on the parties by regular mail an administrative order including its findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order, in response to the petition for reconsideration. The organization may serve an

administrative order on any decision made by informal internal review without first issuing a notice of decision and receiving a request for reconsideration. If the organization does not issue an order within sixty days of receiving a request for reconsideration, a party may request, and the organization shall promptly issue, an appealable determination.

4. A party has ~~thirty~~forty-five days from the date of service of an administrative order to file a written request for rehearing. The request must state specifically each alleged error of fact and law to be reheard and the relief sought. Absent a timely and sufficient request for rehearing, the administrative order is final and may not be reheard or appealed.
5. Rehearings must be conducted as hearings under chapter 28-32 to the extent that chapter does not conflict with this section.
6. An employer may appeal a posthearing administrative order to district court in accordance with chapter 65-10. Chapter 65-10 does not preclude the organization from appealing to district court a final order issued by a hearing officer under this title.

**SECTION 3. APPLICATION.** This Act applies to all claims, regardless of date of injury, which have a notice of decision issued after July 31, 2021.

Approved March 8, 2021

Filed March 9, 2021

## CHAPTER 503

### HOUSE BILL NO. 1051

(Industry, Business and Labor Committee)  
(At the request of Workforce Safety and Insurance)

AN ACT to create and enact two new sections to chapter 65-02 and a new section to chapter 65-04, of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to attorney's fees and reimbursement to employers, payment of fees associated with credit or debit card payments, and settlements regarding amounts owed by employers; to amend and reenact sections 65-04-19, 65-04-24, and 65-04-25 and subsection 1 of section 65-04-26.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to audit of employers, workforce safety and insurance retaining counsel on employer files, and filing payroll reports; to provide a continuing appropriation; to provide for application; and to declare an emergency.

#### BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA:

**SECTION 1.** A new section to chapter 65-02 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows:

##### **Attorney's fees reimbursement.**

An employer that is insured and in good standing with the organization is eligible for reimbursement of reasonable legal costs and reasonable attorney's fees if the employer is found to be uninsured or noncompliant by the workers' compensation authorities of another state and hires an attorney to defend against the determination. A reimbursement may be made only if the organization determines the employer's employees did not regularly work in the other state.

**SECTION 2.** A new section to chapter 65-02 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows:

##### **Electronic transaction payment fees - Continuing appropriation.**

Money in the workforce safety and insurance fund is appropriated on a continuing basis for payment of fees associated with credit or debit card payments made to the organization.

**SECTION 3. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-04-19 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-04-19. Organization to assign rate classifications, calculate premium, and determine premium due from employer - Audit - Notification of billing statement as notice of amount due.**

1. The organization shall assign rate classifications based on information provided to the organization by the employer or information gathered through the organization's investigative process.
2. The organization shall determine the amount of premium due from every employer subject to this title for the twelve months next succeeding the date of

expiration of a previous period of insurance or next succeeding the date at which the organization received information an employer is subject to the title.

3. If the organization does not receive the payroll report or, in the case of a noncompliant employer, the organization does not receive reliable and accurate payroll information, the organization may calculate premium using the wage cap in effect per employee reported in the previous payroll report, using information obtained through the organization's investigative process, or using data obtained from job service North Dakota.
4. The organization may audit an employer conducting business in this state. Audit findings are applicable to the audited period and the subsequent payroll period only, unless the audit referral is made for a potential violation of section 65-04-33.
5. The organization shall send a copy of the billing statement to the employer. Sending the billing statement, by mail or electronically, constitutes notice to the employer of the amount due.

**SECTION 4. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-04-24 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-04-24. Notice of premium or assessment owing - Organization to bring suit for premiums in default.**

The organization shall notify an employer of the amount of premium, assessment, penalty, and interest due the organization from the employer. If the employer fails to pay that amount within thirty days, the organization may collect the premium, assessment, penalties, and interest due by civil action. In any action for the collection of amounts due the organization under this title, the court may not review or consider the action of the organization regarding the acceptance or payment of any claim. The organization may adjust or compromise the account. The organization may retain counsel on a contingent or hourly fee basis to represent the organization in any proceeding relating to the collection of amounts due under this title. The organization shall charge attorney's fees and costs to the organization's general fund.

**SECTION 5. AMENDMENT.** Section 65-04-25 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

**65-04-25. Service of nonresident employer in suit for premium or in suit against an uninsured employer.**

If the employer in an action to collect delinquent premiums or for injuries sustained in the employer's employment for which the employer did not carry the required insurance is a nonresident of this state, or a foreign corporation or limited liability company doing business in this state, service of the summons may be made upon any agent, representative, or foreman of ~~said~~the employer in this state, or in the case of a foreign corporation, its director, and if there is no agent, representative, or foreman, or in the case of a foreign corporation, director, upon whom service can be made in this state, service upon the secretary of state constitutes personal service upon that nonresident employer or corporation's director who has either failed to secure the necessary coverage or who is delinquent in the employer's premiums, or service may be made in any other manner designated by law. The organization may retain counsel who is licensed in another state to represent the organization on a contingent or hourly fee basis in any proceeding relating to the collection of amounts

due the organization under this title. All attorney's fees and costs incurred under this section are a charge to the general fund.

**SECTION 6. AMENDMENT.** Subsection 1 of section 65-04-26.1 of the North Dakota Century Code is amended and reenacted as follows:

1. An officer or director of a corporation, or manager or governor of a limited liability company, or partner of a limited liability partnership, or employee of a corporation or limited liability company having twenty percent stock ownership who has control of or supervision over the filing of and responsibility for filing ~~premium payroll~~ reports or making payment of premiums or reimbursements under this title and who fails to file the reports or to make payments as required, is personally liable for premiums under this chapter and reimbursement under section 65-04-04.4, including interest, penalties, and costs if the corporation or limited liability company does not pay to the organization those amounts for which the corporation or limited liability company is liable.

**SECTION 7.** A new section to chapter 65-04 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows:

**Settlement in discretion of organization.**

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this chapter, the organization may settle an amount owed by an employer to resolve a disputed issue at any time and on its own motion or by application of an employer.

**SECTION 8. APPLICATION.** Section 1 of this Act applies to attorney's fees incurred after July 31, 2021.

**SECTION 9. EMERGENCY.** This Act is declared to be an emergency measure.

Approved March 15, 2021

Filed March 15, 2021

## CHAPTER 504

### HOUSE BILL NO. 1139

(Representative Keiser)  
(Senator Klein)

AN ACT to create and enact section 65-05-40 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to duration limits for opioid therapy and benzodiazepine; and to provide for application.

#### BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA:

**SECTION 1.** Section 65-05-40 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows:

#### **65-05-40. Opioid therapy and benzodiazepine duration limits - Termination of coverage.**

1. The organization may not pay for opioid therapy that exceeds ninety morphine milligram equivalents of opioid medication per day, or more than a seven-day supply of an opioid medication within any single outpatient transaction during the initial thirty-day period of opioid therapy.
  - a. The limitations do not apply to:
    - (1) Opioid therapy prescribed for active and aftercare cancer treatment;
    - (2) End-of-life and hospice care;
    - (3) Treatment for substance use disorder;
    - (4) An emergency room setting;
    - (5) An inpatient hospital setting;
    - (6) A long-term care facility setting; or
    - (7) An assisted living facility setting.
  - b. Opioid therapy includes controlled substances listed in subsections 3 and 4 of section 19-03.1-07, subsection 6 of section 19-03.1-09, subsection 3 of section 19-03.1-11, subsections 3 and 4 of section 19-03.1-13, or any substance with similar properties or affects.
2. The organization may not pay for benzodiazepine therapy beyond a cumulative duration of four weeks, except when approved by the organization for the treatment of an anxiety disorder. Benzodiazepine therapy includes controlled substances contained in subdivisions a, i, j, k, l, p, r, v, x, ee, mm, qq, xx, yy, aaa, and ccc of subsection 4 of section 19-03.1-11, or any substance with similar properties or affects.

3. The organization may not pay for any combination therapies that include controlled substances from subsections 1 and 2 concurrently.
4. A review of requests to depart from the established limits in subsections 1, 2, and 3, upon a showing of medical necessity, are dispute resolution decisions under section 65-02-20.

**SECTION 2. APPLICATION.** An injured employee receiving any therapy exceeding the therapy limits in section 1 of this Act on the effective date of this Act must be in compliance with the limits by July 1, 2022, at which time the organization shall terminate coverage for any therapy exceeding the limits.

Approved March 31, 2021

Filed April 1, 2021